

## Male Gametophyte Development and Evolution in Extant Gymnosperms

## Danilo D. Fernando<sup>1\*</sup> • Christina R. Quinn<sup>1</sup> • Eric D. Brenner<sup>2</sup> • John N. Owens<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Environmental and Forest Biology, State University of New York College of Environmental Science and Forestry, 1 Forestry Drive, Syracuse, NY 13210, USA <sup>2</sup> The New York Botanical Garden, 200<sup>th</sup> St. and Kazimiroff, Bronx, NY 10458, USA

 $^{\mathbf{3}}$  69/35 Sukhumvit Rd., Dtumbon Na Jomtein, Amphur Sattahip, Chonburi 20250, Thailand

Corresponding author: \* dfernando@esf.edu

#### ABSTRACT

The male gametophytes of gymnosperms are characterized by the diversities in pollen morphology, cellular composition and pattern of cell division, pollen tube morphology, sperm delivery, growth pattern through the ovule and nucellus, and pollen tube wall composition both within and among the four living orders, i.e., Cycadales, Ginkgoales, Coniferales, and Gnetales. At dehiscence, gymnosperm pollen grains contain a variable number of cells yet none have sperm at this stage. Pollen germination in the ovule usually occurs within a few hours or days in gnetophytes, about a week or so in conifers and *Ginkgo*, or after several months in cycads. Complete development of the male gametophytes typically involves two to five mitotic divisions. Evolution of the male gametophyte appears to have involved a reduction of its component cells with prothallial cells being among those reduced or eliminated. There is a shift in the site of sperm delivery occur in gymnosperms: zooidogamy, defined by pollen tubes with motile sperm as exhibited in cycads and *Ginkgo*, and siphonogamy, defined by pollen tubes with non-motile sperm which are directly delivered into the egg as exhibited in conifers and gnetophytes. Different pollen tube morphologies occur in the nucellus, i.e., branched and haustorial in cycads and *Ginkgo*, and unbranched and non-haustorial in conifers and gnetophytes. Pollen tubes form heterotrophic relationships with the nucellus, but it is only in cycads that intracellular penetration results in significant destruction of the nucellus. Pollen tube walls of gymnosperms contain cellulose and arabinogalactan proteins; however, pectins are prevalent in cycads and mixed  $\beta$ -glucan in *Ginkgo*. A standard terminology to describe the cellular composition of the male gametophytes in gymnosperms is proposed.

Keywords: pollen grain, pollen tube, siphonogamy, sperm, sexual reproduction, zooidogamy

### CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	47
EVOLUTION AND CLASSIFICATION OF GYMNOSPERMS	48
MORPHOLOGY AND POLARITY OF POLLEN GRAINS	49
CELLULAR COMPOSITION OF POLLEN GRAINS	50
POLLEN GERMINATION AND SPERM FORMATION	55
GROWTH OF POLLEN TUBES IN THE OVULE	57
COMPOSITION OF INTINE AND POLLEN TUBE WALL	58
MADS-BOX GENES AND REPRODUCTIVE DEVELOPMENT	59
DIRECTION OF GYMNOSPERM MALE GAMETOPHYTE RESEARCH	60
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	60
REFERENCES	60

### INTRODUCTION

The appearance of pollen grains is a key innovation in seed plant evolution. Before pollen grains, fertilization was restricted to a wet environment that was required for the sperm to swim to the archegonia containing the egg cell. This mode of fertilization still occurs in land plants such as bryophytes, lycophytes and pteridophytes. This innovation of the male gametophyte increased the success of fertilization in seed plants by eliminating the chances and hazards associated with the aquatic transfer of sperm (Gifford and Foster 1989). Within the gymnosperms, and seed plants in general, two methods of sperm delivery occur: zooidogamy and siphonogamy. In zooidogamous seed plants such as the cycads and *Ginkgo*, the pollen tubes function as haustoria, i.e., multiple branches emerge at their distal end that penetrate the nucellus to absorb water and nutrients for the development of the sperm. At their proximal end, the pollen tube releases flagellated sperm into a specialized chamber in the ovule from which the sperm subsequently swim to the egg cell (Friedman 1993; Poort *et al.* 1996; Rudall and Bateman 2007). The fossil record also provides several examples of zooidogamy in extinct gymnosperms (Poort *et al.* 1996; Nishida *et al.* 2003, 2004; Leslie 2008). The discovery of the zooidogamous mode of fertilization in *Ginkgo biloba* (Hirase 1896) and *Cycas revoluta* (Ikeno 1896) linked gymnosperms with pteridophytes, which is considered as one of the seminal biological discoveries in the 19<sup>th</sup> century. In conifers and gnetophytes, pollen tubes elongate from the nucellus to an archegonium (or female gametophyte in *Gnetum* and *Welwitschia*) and deliver nonflagellated sperm directly into the egg (siphonogamy). The shift in the position of sperm release and loss of sperm locomotion are among the key traits in the transition towards siphonogamy (Poort *et al.* 1996; Rudall and Bateman 2007), the predominant mode of fertilization in seed plants. Phylogenetic analyses show that siphonogamy may have evolved at least twice in gymnosperms, once within the conifers and once in the gnetophytes (Doyle and Donoghue 1992; Friedman 1993; Rudall and Batemen 2007). Siphonogamy occurs in both gymnosperms and angiosperms, but the development and cellular organization of their pollen grains and tubes are considerably different (Gifford and Foster 1989; Fernando *et al.* 2005a). There is also a marked difference in the rates of pollen tube growth and fertilization intervals between gymnosperms and angiosperms (Williams 2008).

The process of male gamete formation has been reviewed for higher plants, but has focused on angiosperms, with no inclusion of gymnosperms (see Boavida *et al.* 2005). Where gymnosperms were included, as reviewed by Moitra and Bhatnagar (1982), description of the male gametophyte concentrated on pollen grain and gamete development, with minor mention of pollen tube development. A comparison of the male gametophytes among seed plants has been carried out but focused on the evolution of pollen grain polarity and siphonogamy (see Rudall and Bateman 2007). In gymnosperms, a review on pollen tube growth and development is available (see Fernando *et al.* 2005a), but it is limited to the conifers. Therefore, further discussion is needed on the nature of pollen grains and tubes in the extant gymnosperms.

This review will describe male gametophyte development focusing on morphology, polarity and cellular composition of the pollen grain, pollen germination and tube growth, sperm formation, growth of the pollen tubes in the ovules, chemical composition of the intine and pollen tube wall, and evolution in the four living orders of gymnosperms: Cycadales, Ginkgoales, Coniferales, and Gnetales. A standard terminology to describe the cellular composition of male gametophytes in gymnosperms, which is consistent with that of the angiosperms, is proposed. Immature or developing male gametophyte refers to all stages starting from the formation of the microspores, except sperm formation. Formation of the sperm indicates that the male gametophyte is mature. The concept of the nature of sperm in gymnosperms is confusing, i.e., whether they are composed of cells or nuclei. Therefore, this review will clarify which extant gymnosperms have sperm cells and which have sperm nuclei. By studying the development and evolution of the male gametophytes of the living gymnosperms, this review will help further our knowledge of the reproductive processes in the more primitive seed plants and increase our awareness of the sexual reproductive diversity in seed plants.

# EVOLUTION AND CLASSIFICATION OF GYMNOSPERMS

Stratigraphic evidence places the origin of Coniferales in the Upper Carboniferous (Rothwell et al. 1997; Hernandez-Castillo et al. 2009), Cycadales (Mamay 1976; Gao and Thomas 1989) and Ginkgoales (Rothwell and Holt 1997; Royer et al. 2003) in the Permian, and Gnetales in the Triassic (Stewart and Rothwell 1993; Crane 1996; Rydin et al. 2006). From Permian to Late Jurassic, many seed plants became extinct including lyginopterids, medullosans, Callistophytaceae, glossopterids, Cordaitales, and Voltziales (Stewart and Rothwell 1993). The Cycadales reached their greatest abundance during the Jurassic then began to decline at the end of the Mesozoic era; however, a few families endured to give rise to the modern cycads (Mamay 1969, Gao and Thomas 1989). Similarly, the Ginkgoales reached their greatest abundance and widest distribution during the Jurassic; however, before the end of the Cretaceous, the order diminished and is now represented by a single genus, Ginkgo (Rothwell and Holt 1997; Royer et al. 2003; Zhou and Zheng 2003). The Coniferales began

extensive diversification during the Mesozoic and maintains moderate diversity to this day. In spite of the extinction of many of its members, conifers are still a dominant group based on number of extant species (627 species according to Farjon 2008), number of individuals, and distribution.

Modern cycads occupy a remnant of their former range and are composed of three families, eleven genera, and about 300 species: Cycadaceae (one genus), Stangeriaceae (two genera), and Zamiaceae (eight genera) (Norstog and Nicholls 1997; Hill et al. 2003, 2005). These genera are sharply defined and, although all exist in tropical or subtropical areas, there is no genus found in both the Eastern and Western hemispheres. In addition, most cycads are local in distribution, except for Zamia, which extends from Florida to Chile, and Cycas, from Japan to Australia, but none form continuous natural stands (Hill et al. 2005). Cycads are characterized by sturdy, branched or unbranched trunks covered with persistent leaf bases and topped with a crown of large, pinnately compound leaves. All species are dioecious, i.e., individual plants bear either separate male or female sporophylls. Cycad micro- and megasporophylls are considered to be much-reduced leaves that are usually aggregated into large, laterally displaced cones (strobili). In the case of Cycas, the basal genus, megasporophylls are loosely arranged and not clustered into cones. At the time of pollination, pollen grains are released from the male (pollen or microsporangiate) cones and transferred to the female (seed or megasporangiate) cones by wind or insects (Choi and Friedman 1991).

Although widely distributed during the Mesozoic era, the Ginkgoales was never a large order and continued as a single line into the present, represented only by a single living species, *Ginkgo biloba* (Coulter 1909). Recognized by its tall stature and spreading branches with bilobed, fanshaped and dichotomously veined leaves, *Ginkgo* is now presumed to be extinct in the wild, but has been distributed worldwide through cultivation (Gifford and Foster 1989; Rothwell and Holt 1997; Royer *et al.* 2003; Shen *et al.* 2005). *Ginkgo* is dioecious, ovules are typically borne in pairs on the end of short stalks, microsporangia occur in cones, and pollen grains are wind dispersed (Chamberlain 1935).

With a fossil record extending back to the Upper Carboniferous (Pennsylvanian), conifers are considered to have arisen from primitive gymnosperms with seed-bearing cupules (Miller 1977; Meyen 1984, 1997). Single or multiseeded, the cupules were composed of modified branchlets that fused to eventually form cone-like structures containing ovules that resulted in naked seeds. The Podocarpaceae, found in the tropics and southern hemisphere, is the first conifer family recognized in the fossil record, although most of the other families are apparent at the end of the Triassic and beginning of the Jurassic (Miller 1977, 1999; Farjon 1998). The earliest fossil evidence for Pinaceae is from the Late Jurassic (Miller 1977; Farjon 1998). During these warm periods, conifers extended towards the polar regions and higher elevations. In contrast, as temperatures cooled, conifer distribution contracted to equatorial and tropical regions. These trends may have resulted in many monotypic families, genera, and isolated species (Farjon 1998).

Early conifer evolution enabled separate and distinctive compound female cones and simple male cones to appear and remain as distinct conifer traits. Evolutionary diversification of the conifers has led to a great diversity in cone morphology, male and female gametophyte development, gamete structure, fertilization, embryogenesis, and seed development (Singh 1978; Bruns and Owens 2000). This is particularly true of the male gametophyte and conifer pollination mechanisms (Singh 1978; Tomlinson 1994; Owens *et al.* 1998; Fernando *et al.* 2005a). Most conifers are monoecious, but all are wind pollinated; however, the pollen grain and sperm structures, the method by which pollen grains enter the ovules, the number of cells within the shed pollen grain, and the time and method by which pollen tubes form have evolved along several different lineages (Owens and Bruns 2000; Fernando *et al.* 2005a).

Conifers are the largest and most diverse of all extant gymnosperms, with 627 species belonging to 70 genera, which are distributed worldwide (Farjon 2008). Several studies have shown that they are composed of seven families based on morphological cladistic analysis (Hart 1987) and molecular phylogenetic analyses (Chaw et al. 1993; Price et al. 1993; Chaw et al. 1995; Stefanovic et al. 1998). These studies also show that Pinaceae is the first lineage of conifers to diverge. Other morphological analyses consider Phyllocladaceae as separate from Podocarpaceae resulting in eight families (Tomlinson et al. 1997; Farjon 1998, 2008). The conifers are monophyletic and starting from the basal branch, are composed of Pinaceae, Podocarpaceae sensu lato, Araucariaceae, Sciadopityaceae, Taxaceae, Cephalotaxaceae, and Cupressaceae (Stefanovic et al. 1998). The placements of Pinaceae and Podocarpaceae in the above and many other molecular phylogenetic analyses are not consistent with the fossil record of the conifers (Stewart 1983; Farjon 1998, 2008). Therefore, the number of conifer families and their position in an evolutionary classification remain to be settled.

The gnetophytes have been grouped within the gymnosperms based on their naked ovules. The gnetophytes have also been regarded as a sister group to the angiosperms due to many shared morphological characteristics including double fertilization (Friedman 1990a, 1990b; Carmichael and Friedman 1996). However, several studies indicate otherwise (Goremykin et al. 1996; Chaw et al. 1997; Hansen et al. 1999). Sequence analyses of mitochondrial and nuclear small subunit rRNA (Bowe et al. 2000) and examination of molecular markers such as the MADS-box gene subfamilies (Winter et al. 1999; Chaw et al. 2000) have provided further evidence that gnetophytes are monophyletic with a closer affinity to the conifers than angiosperms. Moreover, sequence information from RNA polymerases I, II, and III has grouped the gnetophytes within the conifers as the sister group of the Pinaceae (Hajibabaei et al. 2006). The fossil record also provides some evidence for a relationship between the Coniferales and Gnetales (Hernandez-Castillo *et al.* 2001).

In spite of the discrepancies in the placement of Gnetales, it is agreed that three genera compose this order: *Ephedra, Gnetum* and *Welwitschia*. Although different in appearance and life history, the three genera are grouped together based upon shared morphological characteristics including vessels in the secondary wood, compound cones in both male and female plants, double-integumented ovules, long micropylar tubes formed by the inner integuments, double fertilization, embryos with two cotyledons, opposite and net-veined leaves, and lack of resin canals. Most of these features are not found in any other gymnosperms. The monophyly of these three genera are also supported by various molecular data (Goremykin *et al.* 1996; Price 1996; Bowe *et al.* 2000; Chaw *et al.* 2000; Rydin *et al.* 2006).

#### MORPHOLOGY AND POLARITY OF POLLEN GRAINS

Pollen grains are produced by all seed plants and generally range in size from 10-100 microns. In gymnosperms, pollen grains represent the developing male gametophytes that are surrounded by a complex wall, the pollen wall, composed of an outer layer called the exine (which is subdivided into ectexine and endexine) and the inner layer is the intine (Faegri and Iverson 1989). The ectexine is relatively thick and composed primarily of sporopollenin (which is the most decay- and chemical resistant biopolymer available in nature), while the endexine is thin, with a nonhomogenous laminate appearance, and degradable. The exine protects the developing male gametophyte from impacts and abrasion, and allows for the expansion and reduction of the pollen grain size with changing humidity. The intine is composed of various proteins and polysaccharides, and plays a role in pollen germination and extension of the pollen tube (Derksen *et al.* 1999; Yatomi *et al.* 2002; Chichiricco and Pacini 2008).

The pollen grains of cycads (Fig. 1A), which probably represent the nearest living equivalent to the earliest gymnosperm pollen grain (Chaloner 1970), are smooth, spheroidal, and aperturate; the aperture occupies almost half of the pollen surface (Dehgan and Dehgan 1988; Tekleva et al. 2007). Pollen grains range in size from those with small volume, such as in Encephalartos where the volume is approximately 7 µm<sup>3</sup> (Pacini et al. 1999), to those with large volumes, such as in *Macrozamia* and *Microcycas* with volumes of approximately  $31 \ \mu m^3$  (Pacini *et al.* 1999). Polarity is manifested in the thickness of the outer wall of the pollen grain. The exine covers the entire surface of the pollen grain; however, it is thickest at the proximal area, moderate on the sides, and thin at the distal area. Proximal refers to the surface where the microspores join in the tetrad following meiosis and distal refers to the outer surfaces of the four microspores when in the tetrad and after they separate. The intine is a single, thin, continuous layer (although it is thicker on the sides in some species) composed of cellulose, callose, and pectins (Downie 1928; Pettitt 1982; Pacini et al. 1999; Yatomi et al. 2002).

Pollen grains of *Ginkgo biloba* (Fig. 1B) are asymmetrically spheroidal, i.e., with a convex proximal side and flat distal end; the latter bears the aperture that also occupies almost half of the pollen grain (Tekleva *et al.* 2007). They are smooth, monosulcate, moderate in volume at about 13  $\mu$ m<sup>3</sup> (Pacini *et al.* 1999; Tekleva *et al.* 2007) and polarized cytologically, with the position of the prothallial cell denoting the proximal end and the large tube cell the distal end (Friedman 1987). An exine of intermediate thickness covers the proximal side of the pollen grain, while a much thinner exine layer occurs on the distal side (Tekleva *et al.* 2007). A continuous layer of sterified pectin, cellulose, and mixed  $\beta$ -glucans make up the intine (Pacini *et al.* 1999; Yatomi *et al.* 2002).

The features of conifer pollen grains vary among families (Figs. 1C-F); they may be saccate or non-saccate, with smooth, orbiculate, or highly sculptured walls (Fernando et al. 2005a). The most detailed ultrastructural description yet made of the formation of all layers of the conifer pollen wall, including for each layer the structure, terminology, and the sequence of deposition has been made for Tsuga canadensis by Kurmann (1990). Therefore, readers are referred to this and other articles by this author for details on pollen wall structure in other conifers (Kurmann 1994), as well as comparisons among extant gymnosperms (Kurmann 1992), and between extant and fossil gymnosperms (Kurmann and Zavada 1994). In most Pinaceae, pollen grains are saccate and strongly polarized by the presence of distal sacci (Fig. 1C) (Owens and Simpson 1986). The exine is thicker at the proximal end and thinner but continuous in the distal region. The cellulose-rich intine contains the prothallial cells at the proximal end. In other Pinaceae (e.g., Pseudotsuga and Larix), pollen grains are non-saccate, are very finely sculptured (Fig. 1D), and lack external polarity but have internal polarity in the presence of prothallial cells embedded within the intine. In the Cupressaceae, pollen grains are spherical, smooth, non-saccate and the exine surface bears many tiny spherical orbicules (Fig. 1E) deposited from the tapetum. In Tsuga (Pinaceae), the pollen grains are also non-saccate but the exine forms spines (Fig. 1F). Their spherical pollen grains become irregularly indented when dry and are internally polarized (Owens and Simpson 1986). The cellulose-rich inner layer of the intine is uniform in thickness, while the outer layer, which is rich in pectins, is irregular in thickness (Chichiricco and Pacini 2008). In contrast, pollen grains of the Taxaceae lack internal polarity. Their exine is continuously thick as is the intine, which is made up of a thick inner layer rich in cellulose and a thinner outer layer containing pectin (Anderson and Owens 2000; Fernando et al. 2005a). Their pollen is non-saccate and also covered with orbicules. Saccate pollen grains are also found



**Fig. 1** A-J Scanning electron micrographs of the basic types of pollen grains in gymnosperms. (A) *Cycas micholitzii* Dyer (Cycadaceae) pollen grain exhibiting the development of a loop-like pattern on the distal face. Scale bar =  $3 \mu m$  (from Tekleva *et al.* 2007). (B) *Ginkgo biloba* L. (Ginkgoaceae) pollen grain, hydrated, with a protruding aperture and slightly sunken margin. Scale bar =  $3 \mu m$  (from Tekleva *et al.* 2007). (C) *Pinus ponderosa* (Pinaceae) pollen showing sacci and body (corpus) Scale bar =  $20 \mu m$  (from Fernando *et al.* 2005a). (D) *Pseudotsuga menziesii* (Pinaceae) pollen with indentation caused by normal dehydration before shedding. Scale bar =  $20 \mu m$  (from Fernando *et al.* 2005a). (E) *Chamaecyparis nootkatnesis* (Cupressaceae) pollen showing many small orbicules characteristic of the family. Scale bar =  $20 \mu m$  (from Fernando *et al.* 2005a). (F) *Tsuga heterophylla* (Pinaceae) pollen showing spines on exine. Scale bar =  $20 \mu m$  (from Fernando *et al.* 2005a). (G) *Hephedra americana* (Ephedraceae) pollen grain showing straight furrows (G) and undulated furrows (H), both morphologies can occur within the same pollen sac. Scale bar =  $10 \mu m$  (from Tekleva and Krassilov 2009). (J) *Welwitschia mirabilis* Hook. (Welwitschiaceae) pollen grain showing a distinct sulcus. Scale bar =  $3 \mu m$  (from Rydin and Friis 2005).

#### in most Podocarpaceae (Salter et al. 2002).

The pollen grains of Ephedra and Welwitschia are ellipsoidal (El-Ghazaly et al. 1997; Rydin and Friis 2005), while it is generally subspherical in Gnetum (Kurmann 1991; Yao et al. 2004) (Figs. 1G-J). The pollen wall surface of *Ephedra* and *Welwitschia* are polyplicate, i.e., charac-terized by a series of longitudinal ridges, while it is spinulate in Gnetum (Yao et al. 2004). In Ephedra, the exine has alternating thick and thin areas, while the cellulose-containing intine is relatively thick and evenly surrounds the entire pollen grain (El-Ghazaly et al. 1997; Rydin and Friis 2005). The volumes of *Ephedra* pollen grains have been estimated at 18 µm<sup>3</sup> (Pacini et al. 1999) and internal polarity is manifested by the placement of the prothallial cell at the proximal end (El-Ghazaly et al. 1997). The pollen grains are inaperturate in Ephedra (El-Ghazaly et al. 1997) and Gnetum (Yao et al. 2004), while monoaperturate in Welwitschia (Rydin and Friis 2005).

#### **CELLULAR COMPOSITION OF POLLEN GRAINS**

In seed plants, development of male gametophytes begins with haploid microspores, which are products of meiosis by microspore mother cells that occur within microsporangia. For general descriptions of the initiation and development of the microsporangium and microsporogenesis in various gymnosperms, readers are referred to Singh (1978) and Gifford and Foster (1989). In gymnosperms, pollen grains are dispersed at the one- to five-cell stage (Fernando *et al.* 2005a), except in podocarps where the prothallial cells may proliferate and so their pollen grains may be shed with as many as 40 cells or nuclei (Chamberlain 1935; Sterling 1963; Quinn 1964; Gifford and Foster 1989; Wilson and Owens 1999).

Terminologies used to describe cellular compositions both within the pollen grain and tubes have been inconsistent among various accounts of male gametophyte development for gymnosperms over the last many decades. This has led to confusion and misinterpretations by authors in



Fig. 3 Male gametophyte development in *Ginkgo*.

many articles over the years (for a complete review, see Singh 1978; Gifford and Foster 1989; Owens and Bruns 2000). In spite of the efforts by many authors (Chamberlain 1935; Sterling 1963; Singh 1978; Gifford and Foster 1989; Owens and Bruns 2000; Fernando *et al.* 2005a) to standardize the terminology, terms used are still not consistent among some authors and even with the same author when describing a different gymnosperm. We believe that terminologies can be standardized and applied to all gymnosperms. Consistent use of terms will facilitate comparison of the whole process of male gametophyte development, not only within the gymnosperms, but also between gymnosperms and angiosperms.

The rationale behind our choice of terminologies is based on the assumption by Friedman and Gifford (1988), that the evolution of the male gametophyte and its sexual organ (antheridium) involved a significant reduction and simplification. In gymnosperms, prothallial cells are among those that have been reduced in number or eliminated. In fact, these cells have been completely eliminated in the male gametophytes of angiosperms. The discussion that follows will show that there has been a further reduction in the number of cells that constitute the male gametophytes of gymnosperms, particularly in some conifers and gnetophytes.

In this review, we present our recommended terminologies for the cells and nuclei involved in the sequence of mitotic divisions during the development of the male gametophytes in gymnosperms (**Figs. 2-10**). The following descriptions incorporate the recommended terms, followed by the previously used terms in parentheses, and where possible the rationale behind the changes. What is being proposed here is not the final solution to the problems described, but if it stimulates discussion on this subject, then this has achieved its goal.

A. In cycads (**Fig. 2**), the microspore undergoes an asymmetric cell division to form a small prothallial cell and a large antheridial initial (meristematic initial). The antheridial initial also divides asymmetrically to form a large tube cell and a small antheridial (generative) cell. Pollen grains are released with the three cells axially aligned with the flattened prothallial cell proximally situated, the antheridial cell centrally placed, and the large tube cell distally posi-

tioned (Singh 1978; Gifford and Foster 1989; Norstog 1990; Ouyang *et al.* 2004).

We support the use of the term antheridial initial by Singh (1978) instead of "meristematic initial or cell" by Gifford and Foster (1989). The cell under discussion does not give rise to any prothallial cell and is, therefore, the very first cell of the sperm lineage (or antheridium) and referring to it as the "antheridial initial" is appropriate. Gifford and Foster (1989) used the term "meristematic initial or cell" for the cell under discussion, but they also used it to describe the cell giving rise to the antheridial initial and second prothallial cell, resulting in confusion. Furthermore, their term conflicts with the concept of a meristem, as used to describe the origin of roots, shoots, secondary vascular tissues, and secondary protective tissues. Therefore, to avoid any confusion, we do not recommend the use of the term "meristematic initial or cell."

We also support the term "antheridial cell" by Singh (1978) instead of "generative cell" by Gifford and Foster (1989) to refer to one of the cells (in addition to the tube cell) produced by the division of the antheridial initial. We believe that the term "generative cell" should only be used to describe the cell that gives rise to the sperm.

B. In *Ginkgo* (**Fig. 3**), the microspore undergoes uneven cell division to produce a small and flattened first prothallial cell and a large central cell (meristematic initial). Unequal division of the central cell forms a second small prothallial cell and a large antheridial initial. The latter subsequently divides forming a tube cell and an antheridial (generative) cell, which is in contact with the second prothallial cell. The pollen grains are shed at the four-cell stage, composed of two prothallial cells, an antheridial cell, and a tube cell in an axial row (Singh 1978; Gifford and Foster 1989; Friedman 1987).

We support the use of the term "central cell" as used by Singh (1978) instead of "meristematic initial" according to Gifford and Foster (1989) because the former is descriptive of the position of the cell under discussion, whereas the latter is problematic as described earlier. Singh (1978) used the term "central cell" to replace "embryonal cell" (as used previously by Sterling 1963), which he considered unsuitable since it implies a relationship with the embryo, and we agree.





Fig. 5 Male gametophyte development in Pinaceae.

Four patterns of cell division are recognized in conifer pollen grains (Owens and Bruns 2000; Fernando *et al.* 2005a), with some families containing different numbers of cells at dehiscence (**Figs. 4-7**). The following sequence of conifer families is based in the complexity of cell divisions starting from those families with the greatest number of cell divisions prior to dehiscence and sperm formation. This sequence of conifer families will be used from this point on.

C. In Podocarpaceae and Araucariaceae (Fig. 4), the sequence of cell divisions is essentially similar to *Ginkgo* except that the first and second prothallial cells may undergo further divisions resulting in a variable number of prothallial cells or nuclei, which are appropriately referred to as primary and secondary prothallial cells, respectively. The term "primary prothallial cells" is used to differentiate these cells from those that they produce, i.e., the "secondary prothallial cells".

In Araucaria, prothallial cells form a tissue-like tier of cells and subsequently their cell walls and membranes break down resulting in many free prothallial nuclei in the tube cell cytoplasm. In *Podocarpus*, six to eight prothallial cells are formed (Quinn 1964; Wilson and Owens 1999), while as many as 40 cells or nuclei are formed in Agathis (Chamberlain 1935; Sterling 1963; Gifford and Foster 1989). According to Owens et al. (1995), most prothallial cells in Agathis are bound by cell membranes and not cell walls, and appear almost as free nuclei. The unequal division of the antheridial initial then forms a large tube cell and a smaller antheridial cell. The antheridial cell divides equally to form a sterile cell and a generative cell. Therefore, the pollen grains are typically shed with five cells, in addition to a variable number of prothallial cells or nuclei (Singh 1978; Gifford and Foster 1989; Owens et al. 1995; Wilson and Owens 1999).

D. In Pinaceae (**Fig. 5**), the sequence of cell divisions is similar to Podocarpaceae and Araucariaceae except for the lack of secondary prothallial cells. The microspore divides unequally to form a small first prothallial cell and a large central cell (embryonal cell, meristematic initial). The central cell then divides unequally to form a small second prothallial cell and a larger antheridial initial. The second prothallial cell is stacked on top of the first prothallial cell and these two lens-shaped prothallial cells are pushed to the proximal side of the pollen grain where they both become enclosed within the intine. They do not undergo further division. The antheridial initial then divides unequally to form a large tube cell and a small antheridial (generative) cell. The antheridial cell divides to form a sterile (stalk) cell and a generative (body or spermatogenous) cell. The pollen grains are shed at the four- (Singh 1978; Gifford and Foster 1989) or five-cell stage (Pettitt 1985; Said 1989; Owens and Bruns 2000; Fernando *et al.* 2005a).

Singh (1978) referred to the stalk cell in Pinaceae as such because of its position between the second prothallial cell and the generative cell. However, its position relative to the generative cell is reversed in the cypress Athrotaxis (Brennan and Doyle 1956). Gifford and Foster (1989) believed that the term suggests an unproved homology with the stalk of the antheridium of bryophytes and some leptosporangiate ferns. On the other hand, since the "stalk cell" in some gymnosperms is nonfunctional and therefore, sterile, it was called a "sterile cell" by Sterling (1963) and Gifford and Foster (1989), which we also consider as more appropriate. In addition, similar sterile cells occur in other conifers where they have no consistent position and may be free within the pollen tube cell cytoplasm. An exception to the concept of a sterile cell occurs in the cycad Microcycas, where the cell under discussion divides repeatedly and eventually giving rise to many sperm (Downie 1928). The term "secondary prothallial cell" has also been suggested by Singh (1978) to describe the cell under discussion, but this term implies that it is derived from other prothallial cells, which is incorrect. The term "sterile cell" presents fewer problems and was preferred by Owens and Bruns (2000) and Fernando et al. (2005a), and therefore, we suggest continuing the use of this term.



Fig. 6 Male gametophyte development in Taxaceae and Cephalotaxaceae.



Fig. 7 Male gametophyte development in Cupressaceae.

In early gymnosperm literature as discussed by Singh (1978), the term "body cell" was used for the cell that formed two sperm. However, this term has no functional or positional meaning and we recommend that throughout the gymnosperms that the term "generative cell" be used for the cell that divides to form the two sperm, in consonance with angiosperms. Singh (1978) considered the terms "body cell", "spermatogenous cell", and "generative cell" as being morphologically equivalent. Rudall and Bateman (2007) also considered the terms "spermatogenous cell" and "generative cell" as equivalent. Although Gifford and Foster (1989) considered the term "spermatogenous cell" to be more explicit than generative cell in denoting the function of the cell under discussion, several authors (Southworth and Cresti 1997; Owens and Bruns 2000; Fernando et al. 2005a) have begun to use the term "generative cell" for the cell in gymnosperms that forms the two sperm. Since this is consistent with the terminology used for angiosperms, we recommend that this trend be continued.

E. In Taxaceae and Cephalotaxaceae (**Fig. 6**), the microspores do not divide prior to being shed. Therefore, at pollination, microspores are also regarded as pollen grains, which are shed at the one-cell stage (Anderson and Owens 2000; Wang *et al.* 2008).

F. In Cupressaceae (Fig. 7), the microspore divides asymmetrically to form a large tube cell and a smaller generative cell. Cell divisions involved in the formation of the central cell, antheridial initial, and antheridial cell appear to have been eliminated. Therefore, the pollen grains are shed at the two-cell stage (Singh 1978; Fernando *et al.* 2005a; Chichiricco and Pacini 2008).

G. In *Ephedra* (**Fig. 8**), the pattern of male gametophyte development is most similar to Ginkgo and Pinaceae. A major difference from these gymnosperms is that during the formation of the so-called second prothallial cell, no cell wall or membrane is laid down to separate it from the antheridial initial and therefore, only a prothallial nucleus is formed (Friedman 1990b). Another difference is that both the first formed prothallial cell and the prothallial nucleus begin to break down soon after their formation (Singh 1978; Gifford and Foster 1989; Friedman 1990b). Division of the antheridial initial forms a tube cell and an antheridial (generative) cell. The latter divides to form a sterile nucleus and a generative (spermatogenous) nucleus, which are not separated by a cell wall or membrane and thus, should be referred to as nuclei that share a common cytoplasm (Friedman 1990b). Therefore, at dehiscence, the pollen grains consist of two cells and three nuclei.

H. In *Gnetum* and *Welwitchia* (Fig. 9), the microspore divides unequally to produce a small prothallial cell and a large antheridial cell (antheridial initial). The latter divides



Fig. 9 Male gametophyte development in Gnetum and Welwitchia.



Fig. 10 Sequence of cell divisions, using proposed standard terminology, in male gametophyte development in extant gymnosperms. The previous terminology is shown in parentheses. The dashed lines indicate the stage of pollen grain dispersal. AI, antheridial initial; BC, body cell; CC, central cell; EC, embryonal cell; GC, generative cell; MI, meristematic initial; PC1, first prothallial cell; PC2, second prothallial cell; PC<sup>2</sup>, secondary prothallial cell; PN, prothallial nucleus; SC, sperm cell; SN, sperm nucleus; STA, stalk cell; SPC, spermatogenous cell; STE, sterile cell; STN, sterile nucleus; TC, tube cell.

to form a tube cell and a generative cell. As compared to *Ephedra*, only the cell divisions involved in the formation of the central cell and antheridial initial appear to have been eliminated in *Gnetum* and *Welwitschia*. Therefore, the pollen grains in these genera are shed at the three-cell stage (Singh 1978; Carmichael and Friedman 1995).

Based on the above, two patterns of cell division are recognized in the pollen grains of Gnetophytes (Singh 1978; Gifford and Foster 1989), with the three genera containing different numbers of cells and nuclei at pollination.

**Fig. 10** is provided to facilitate comparison of the sequences of mitotic divisions during the development of the male gametophytes in all four living phyla of gymnosperms.

#### POLLEN GERMINATION AND SPERM FORMATION

A major difference in development of male gametophytes in gymnosperms and angiosperms is that in the former, no pollen grains are shed with sperm already present. Therefore, as far as we are aware, sperm formation in gymnosperms occurs exclusively after pollination. To emphasize this difference, the description of the development of male gametophytes after pollination is separated from the description of the development before pollination, and therefore, provided here under a different heading. In this case, some overlaps will be noticed but are intentional.

After pollination, pollen grains germinate outside or inside the ovule through various mechanisms. For detailed description of this subject, readers are referred to Singh (1978), Tomlinson (1994), Owens et al. (1998) and Labandeira et al. (2007). Post-pollination development of the male gametophyte is manifested by the formation and elongation of the pollen tube. At this stage, prothallial and sterile cells in some genera may migrate into the elongating pollen tube; however, the information on this subject is incomplete to draw any meaningful generalizations. Most authors did not provide information on the activity of prothallial cells probably because these cells do not have any known function in gymnosperms. The discussion on these cells will be limited to a few well-established examples. There is confusion as to the nature of the sperm in gymnosperms. To facilitate our understanding of this subject, examples will be described to show which gymnosperms have sperm cells and which ones have sperm nuclei. Therefore, this section will focus on the activity of the generative cell, time of sperm formation and nature of the sperm (Fig. 11A-I).

A. In cycads (**Fig. 2**), as pollen grains are brought into the pollen chamber at the tip of the nucellus, they absorb water and nutrients from the pollination drop. This hydration stimulates germination within the chamber, which may not occur until months after pollination. After the pollen tube forms from the three-cell pollen grain, the antheridial cell divides to produce a sterile cell and a (spermatogenous) generative cell, after which the prothallial cell enlarges causing it to press against the sterile cell (Swamy 1948; Ouyang *et al.* 2004). Division of the generative cell results in the formation of two sperm cells (**Fig. 11A**) with approximately 40,000 flagella each formed by a cluster of blepharoplasts; the sperm cells only have cell membranes and their nuclei comprise the bulk (Norstog *et al.* 2004; Rudall and Bateman 2007).

It is interesting to note that in *Microcycas*, the so-called sterile cell may divide to form rows of generative cells that develop into at least sixteen flagellate sperm cells (Downie 1928; Norstog 1990). It has been suggested that polyspermy in *Microcycas* reflects a plesiomorphic state in male game-tophyte evolution (Norstog 1990; Norstog and Nicholls 1997). However, morphological and molecular evidences have shown that *Cycas* is the basal genus (Stevenson 1992; de Laubenfels 1999; Hill *et al.* 2003) implying that polyspermy is derived. In fact, polyspermy has been regarded as atavistic reversal (Norstog *et al.* 2004; Rudall and Bateman 2007).

B. In Ginkgo (Fig. 3), about a week after pollen grains

are drawn into the ovule, germination occurs (Friedman 1987). When the four-cell pollen grain germinates, the first prothallial cell aborts while the second prothallial cell remains intact. The antheridial cell divides to produce a sterile cell and a generative (spermatogenous) cell. The latter is situated between the second prothallial cell and the sterile cell. The generative cell is believed to share a common cell wall with the second prothallial cell (Lee 1955). During sperm formation, the generative cell enlarges and two blepharoplasts form, where one is included in each of the two sperm cells (Fig. 11B). In each of the sperm cells, the blepharoplast gives rise to the flagellar apparatus that contains approximately 1000 flagella (Gifford and Lin 1975). The two sperm cells are contained within the generative cell cytoplasm, but are eventually released (Singh 1978; Gifford and Larson 1980; Friedman 1987).

There are at least two differences between the generative cells of *Ginkgo* and cycads. In *Ginkgo*, the cytoplasm contains a lens-shaped nucleus flanked by a pair of globular or osmiophilic bodies (Gifford and Lin 1975), while in cycads, nuclei are spherical with no such bodies observed (Norstog and Nicholls 1997).

In conifers (except Taxaceae and Cephalotaxaceae) and gnetophytes, as compared to the cycads and *Ginkgo*, the only cell division that occurs during post-pollination development of the male gametophytes is the formation of the sperm from the generative cell (**Figs. 4-9**). The pollen grains in conifers germinate upon hydration followed by the shedding of the exine or penetration of the pollen tube through a thin area in the exine (Owens *et al.* 1998). Pollen germination occurs one (Fernando *et al.* 2005b) to several weeks (Owens *et al.* 1994; Takaso and Owens 1997) after pollination.

C. In Podocarpaceae and Araucariaceae (Fig. 4), during germination of the typical five-cell pollen grain, the nucleus of the generative cell divides to form two sperm nuclei (Fig. 11C-D), which remain within the generative cell cytoplasm. Two differences occur within the Araucariaceae but not in the Podocarpaceae: 1) the generative cell that enters one of the branches leading to an archegonium divides to form two equal-size sperm nuclei that are contained within the generative cell cytoplasm; and 2) during sperm formation, the two nuclei that are formed engulf the generative cell cytoplasm and its organelles forming two large complex sperm nuclei (Owens *et al.* 1995). The latter has not been reported in Podocarpaceae and that the sperm nuclei that are formed are unequal in size (Wilson and Owens 1999).

D. In Pinaceae (Fig. 5), after germination of the fivecell pollen grain, the nucleus of the generative cell divides to form two sperm nuclei that remain inside the generative cell until the pollen tube enters the egg cell. In most species studied, no cell wall or membrane is formed between the two sperm nuclei (Fig. 11E) and, therefore, they share the organelles of the generative cell (Singh 1978; Owens and Bruns 2000). In *Picea* (Fig. 11F), only a partial cell wall is formed between the two sperm nuclei (Dawkins and Owens 1993; Runions and Owens 1999).

E. In Taxaceae and Cephalotaxaceae (Fig. 6), the onecell pollen grain upon entering the pollination drop germinates and then divides to form a large tube cell and a smaller antheridial cell. The latter then divides to form a sterile cell and a generative cell. These cells are both contained within the elongating pollen tube (Anderson and Owens 2000; Wang et al. 2008). In these families, the prothallial cells, central cell and antheridial initial appear to have been eliminated. During further pollen tube development, the generative nucleus divides to form two sperm nuclei (Fig. **11G**) that remain closely associated within the cytoplasms of the generative and sterile cells (Pennel and Bell 1986; Anderson and Owens 1999, 2000; Wang et al. 2008). In some cases, this association occurs even after the disintegration of the cell walls and membranes of the generative and sterile cells (Anderson and Owens 2000; Wang et al. 2008). Therefore, the sperm in these families are also nuclei that are surrounded typically by the generative cell cyto-



Fig 11A-I Sperm cells/nuclei of various gymnosperms (A) *Cycas* sperm cell showing supernumerary flagella. (B) *Ginkgo biloba* sperm cells showing the flagellar apparatus. (C) Podocarpaceae sperm nuclei, unequal in size, maintained within the generative cell cytoplasm. (D) Araucariaceae sperm nuclei, equal in size, engulfing the generative cell cytoplasm and its organelles. (E) *Pinus* sperm nuclei remain in the generative cell, as no wall forms between them. (F) *Picea* sperm nuclei, a partial cell wall forms between the nuclei maintained within the generative cell. (G) *Taxus* sperm nuclei showing a close association with the cytoplasm of the generative and sterile cells. (H) *Cupressus* sperm cells, note the cell wall formed between them. (I) *Gnetum* sperm nuclei, typical of the Gnetales, which remains in the generative cell cytoplasm (PT- pollen tube, SN- sperm nucleus, TN- tube nucleus) (from Carmichael and Friedman 1996).

plasm.

F. In Cupressaceae (**Fig. 7**), after the two-cell pollen grain has germinated, the generative cell divides to form two nuclei and each becomes surrounded by cell walls and membranes forming two large equal-size sperm cells (**Fig. 11H**) that contain abundant organelles (Singh 1978; Fernando *et al.* 2005a). Therefore, unlike the sperm in other conifer families, which are made up of nuclei, sperm in Cupressaceae are made up of cells.

The development of the male gametophyte in Cupressaceae parallels that of angiosperms, particularly the eudicots. Considering that this family is one of the more derived groups in conifers (Chaw *et al.* 1997; Stefanovic *et al.* 1998) and not closely related to any of the angiosperms, such similarity in the development of the male gametophytes suggests a case of convergent evolution.

In gnetophytes, the time between pollination and pollen germination is very brief, lasting only hours to a few days (Gifford and Foster 1989; Friedman 1990b; El-Ghazaly *et al.* 1997; Rydin and Friis 2005). This timeframe for pollen germination is very similar to the angiosperms.

G. In *Ephedra* (Fig. 8), the exine is completely shed before pollen germination (El-Ghazaly *et al.* 1998). Germination of the five-cell pollen grain is followed by the division of the generative cell nucleus to yield two sperm nuclei that are contained within the generative cell. The generative cell containing the two sperm nuclei becomes tightly appressed to the sterile cell (Friedman 1990b). H. In *Gnetum* and *Welwitschia* (Fig. 9), the prothallial cell degenerates before or after germination of the three-cell pollen grain. In the pollen tube, division of the generative cell nucleus produces two sperm nuclei (Fig. 111), which also remain within the generative cell cytoplasm. The generative cell containing two sperm nuclei becomes situated adjacent to the tube nucleus (Carmichael and Friedman 1995, 1996).

Based on the complete development of the male gametophytes, *Ephedra* exhibits a pattern that is distinct from those of *Gnetum* and *Welwitschia*. This trait adds further support to the position of *Ephedra* as a sister group to the *Gnetum-Welwitschia* clade (Doyle and Donoghue 1992; Goremykin *et al.* 1996; Bowe *et al.* 2000; Chaw *et al.* 2000; Rydin *et al.* 2006).

#### **GROWTH OF POLLEN TUBES IN THE OVULE**

In most gymnosperms, pollen grains are taken into the ovule, usually by a pollination drop, and sink or are drawn to the surface of the nucellus where they germinate. The pollen tube is either zooidogamous, as in cycads and Ginkgo, acting as a haustorial organ and not directly responsible for sperm delivery to the egg cell, or siphonogamous, as in conifers and gnetophytes, delivering the sperm directly into the egg (Poort et al. 1996; Rudall and Bateman 2007). The haustorial and branching nature of the pollen tubes in the cycads and Ginkgo may have been the result of the shift in habit of the male gametophyte from its prior free-living existence (as seen in bryophytes, lycophytes and pteridophytes) to one within the tissues of the sporophyte (Poort et al. 1996; Rudall and Bateman 2007). During early evolution of seed plants, it has been speculated that the "invasion" of the pollen tube into the nucellus may have elicited a host-pathogen response in the sporophyte (Choi and Friedman 1991). As a result, the pollen tube may have relied on branching and intracellular growth to gain nutrients. In the more derived groups, conifers and gnetophytes, the sporophyte may eventually have come to facilitate and assist the growth and development of the pollen tube thus, branching was reduced or lost (Choi and Friedman 1991).

A. In cycads, pollen germination involves exine rupture followed by the initiation of the pollen tube from the distal end of the pollen grain, which occurs by means of a protrusion of the intine through the germinal furrow of the monosulcate pollen grain (Pettitt 1982). The tube nucleus migrates into the elongating pollen tube, which begins to grow between degenerated nucellar cells lining the pollen chamber. As the pollen tube penetrates the nucellus, which is rich in starch, the intrusive pollen tube displaces adjacent nucellar cells and the pollen tube becomes surrounded by a single layer of crushed nucellar cells. The abundance of nutrients in the nucellus may cause a response in the pollen tube, influencing the direction of its growth away from the archegonia. Upon reaching the subepidermal layer of the nucellus, the pollen tube becomes quite broad and at some point begins to produce horizontal outgrowths that penetrate individual nucellar cells, ultimately causing necrosis of these cells. As the pollen tube elongates, it accumulates well-developed starch grains, while starch grains are nearly absent in the adjacent nucellar cells but abundant in the nucellar cells five or six cell layers away from the pollen tube. This suggests that the pollen tube absorbs substances from the surrounding sporophytic tissue to sustain its growth. This also suggests that enzymes secreted from the pollen tube outgrowths facilitate its growth and passage through the nucellus by digesting cell walls and protoplasts. Although it has not been demonstrated in vivo, Choi and Friedman (1991) detected polygalacturonases, cellulases, and other hydrolytic enzymes in the cycad pollen tube. Overall, the significant destruction of nucellar cells may compensate for the low surface area to volume ratio of the pollen tube, leading to greater access to nutrients (Choi and Friedman 1991). During pollen tube growth into the nucellus, the pollen chamber enlarges to form a cavity

above the archegonial canal. The pollen tube at the proximal end of the pollen grain, where the prothallial and antheridial (generative) cells are located, enters this cavity and becomes swollen pushing the cells towards the pollen chamber. Here, the antheridial cell divides to ultimately produce the two multi-flagellate sperm cells. The swollen area of the pollen tube eventually ruptures and the sperm cells exit through a small orifice and proceed to swim to the egg cell (Swamy 1948). The growth of the pollen tube in the nucellus is typically intercellular. However, the pollen tube also undergoes intracellular growth by production of localized outgrowths unique to this group.

B. In Ginkgo, development of pollen tubes occurs in three phases (Friedman 1987; Friedman and Gifford 1997): 1) initial diffuse and roughly isodiametric growth that starts at the distal end of the pollen grain; 2) tip growth during which the originally straight pollen tube branches extensively between the nucellar cells at the apex of the nucellus; and 3) the unbranched proximal end of the pollen tube swells into a large bulbous structure. Therefore, pollen germination, as manifested by the swelling of the tube cell through the sulcus, results in the formation of a slightly bulbous projection that extends outward to form the pollen tube. The pollen tube elongates, unbranched, and grows between the nucellar cells lining the pollen chamber, causing no significant physical disruption to the adjacent nucellar cells. Upon entering the nucellus, multiaxial growth begins; the tip of the pollen tube gives rise to numerous haustorial branches that begin to ramify within the intercellular spaces of the nucellus. This growth is considered to be extremely rapid and the haustoria diameters conform to the dimensions of the intercellular space of the nucellus, and proliferate in all directions. Like in cycads, there are no nuclear or cellular divisions associated with pollen tube branching; the entire structure is continuous, formed from the single tube cell. In Ginkgo, the tube nucleus, however, does not migrate into any of the branches, but remains in the unbranched portion of the pollen tube just above the point of elaboration (Friedman 1987). Unlike cycads, Ginkgo does not appear to exhibit enzymatic activity to breakdown nucellar cells, which likely results in limited exposure to nutrients. Yet, the high surface area to volume of the branched pollen tube may compensate. Following branching, increased radial growth occurs in the pollen tube at the proximal end of the pollen grain. The swollen pollen tube develops into a large bulbous structure that fills the pollen chamber and is suspended from the nucellus just above the archegonia. This pattern of swelling is similar to the later stages of development as seen in cycad pollen tubes. The swollen portion of the pollen tube, situated just above archegonia containing the egg cells, eventually ruptures, releasing the motile sperm cells (Friedman 1993). Several pollen grains may germinate in the pollen chamber; however, once the bulbous region of one of the pollen tube ruptures and releases the sperm cells, the sperm cells within the generative cell wall of the other pollen tubes do not rupture, they instead degenerate (Lee 1955).

C. In conifers, mechanisms by which pollen grains reach the nucellus are quite diverse (Singh 1978; Tomlinson 1994; Owens et al. 1998; Labandeira et al. 2007). In the Cupressaceae, Taxaceae, Cephalotaxaceae, and some Podocarpaceae where the ovules are variably oriented, non-saccate pollen grain sinks in the pollination drop and down to the surface of the nucellus where it germinates. The pollen tube grows into the nucellus then to an archegonium (Owens et al. 1998; Fernando et al. 2005a). In contrast, in some Pinaceae (e.g., Pinus, Picea, Cedrus, and some Tsuga species) and some Podocarpaceae, in which the ovules are inverted, pendant pollination drops form and extend out of the micropyle. The saccate pollen grains float up through the micropyle and up through the micropylar canal to the tip of the nucellus (Runions et al. 1995; Owens et al. 1998). There, they germinate with their pollen tubes growing through the nucellus and into an archegonium (Owens et al. 1998). In Abies, the pollen grain germinates in the micropylar canal

and its pollen tube grows towards the nucellus as the nucellus grows towards it, with the two structures meeting about midway along the micropylar canal (Owens and Molder 1977; Chandler and Owens 2004). In Pseudotsuga, the pollen grain sheds its exine near the micropyle and elongates along the length of the micropylar canal. A thin pollen tube forms after the elongated pollen grain contacts or nearly contacts the nucellus, then the pollen tube grows through the nucellus and to an archegonium (Owens et al. 1981). Unlike the above taxa, the pollen grains in some Tsuga species in the Pinaceae (Colangeli and Owens 1989) and all species of Araucariaceae (Owens et al. 1995) germinate on the surface of a bract, scale or integument and the pollen tubes grow into the micropyle, nucellus and eventually into an archegonium. In Agathis (Araucariaceae), pollen grains land and germinate on the nucellar tip that grows out through the micropyle. Once within the nucellus, the pollen tube in the Araucariaceae forms many long branches; one of these branches contains the generative cell and grows into one of the several separate archegonia (Owens et al. 1995)

Slightly branched pollen tubes occur sporadically in various conifers. In *Pinus contorta*, many short branches (about 10 nucellar cells long) form after pollination and during the first year of cone development (de Win *et al.* 1996; Owens *et al.* 2005). The pollen tube appears to be haustorial but the tube nucleus usually enters one of the longer branches before the cone becomes dormant. Following winter dormancy, the branch containing the tube nucleus elongates more rapidly than the other branches and within a few weeks reaches an archegonium (Owens *et al.* 2005). The pollen tube branches in pines are less extensive as compared to those in cycads and *Ginkgo* and some members of the Araucariaceae (Owens *et al.* 1995). This indicates that any haustorial role in conifer pollen tubes is at best secondary (Rudall and Bateman 2007).

Pollen tubes may develop from both the proximal and distal ends of pine pollen grains, but only the pollen tube at the distal end develop further, just like in other conifers (Fernando et al. 2005a). Conifer pollen tubes grow through the nucellus prior to egg maturation (Takaso et al. 1996). Fertilization occurs as little as a few weeks after pollination in most Cupressaceae and Pinaceae (Bruns and Owens 2000), but about a year after pollination in *Pinus* and some Araucariaceae (Owens et al. 1995). The growth of the pollen tube appears to be intercellular within the nucellus; however, it is accompanied by modest degeneration of adjacent nucellar cells. These cells likely degenerate due to cell wall-affecting enzymes secreted by the pollen tube that enable the apex of the tube to push cells aside as it penetrates through the nucellus (Friedman 1993). The death of the nucellar cells facilitates the passage of the growing pollen tube tip and their cellular contents may be utilized by the developing pollen tube (Hiratsuka et al. 2002). In conifers, proteins from pollen grain walls and pollen tubes are believed to be involved in cellular degeneration (Pettitt 1985) and stress/defense responses among others (Fernando 2005). In Pinus contorta, each of the many short pollen tube branches contacts several nucellar cells which are believed to trigger their collapse. The short elongating pollen tube branches occupy the spaces left by the collapsed nucellar cells (Owens et al. 2005).

D. In *Ephedra* and *Gnetum*, after the pollen grains are brought into the ovule, they shed their exine upon germination (El-Ghazaly *et al.* 1997). In *Welwitschia*, the sulcus splits open and the pollen tube extends out of the exine, which is not shed but remains as a cap-like structure partly covering the developing pollen tube (Rydin and Friis 2005). There are fewer studies on the development of the male gametophyte in gnetophytes compared to other gymnosperms, yet it appears that their pollen tubes are simple and unbranched. The pollen tubes arise only from the distal end of the pollen grain. As the pollen tube elongates, it passes through the intercellular spaces between the nucellar cells without disrupting their cellular integrity. In *Ephedra*, when the pollen tube arrives at an archegonium, a vacuolated region (fertilization chamber) forms at the apex into which the pollen tube releases the tube nucleus, sterile cell, and the two sperm nuclei. The two sperm nuclei enter the egg cytoplasm, one fuses with the egg nucleus and the second with a sister nucleus, the ventral canal nucleus, which results in a double fertilization event unique among the gymnosperms (Friedman 1990a, 1990b). In Gnetum and Welwitschia, the nuclei within the female gametophytes do not undergo differentiation and therefore, archegonia are not produced (Singh et al. 1978). In all gnetophytes, multiple pollen tubes may develop and reach the archegonia or female gametophytes. In Ephedra, only the first pollen tube to reach an archegonium will release the sperm nuclei; the supernumerary pollen tubes do not grow further and their contents become impounded in the fertilization chamber. However, in Gnetum, multiple fertile nuclei are available in the female gametophyte for fertilization since no egg cell differentiates and, therefore, many or all of the pollen tubes can successfully develop and deliver sperm nuclei for fertilization (Carmichael and Friedman 1996). In Welwitschia, multiple fertile nuclei are also available for fertilization, but these are contained in prothallial tubes that elongate from the micropylar end of the female gametophyte to about halfway through the nucellus (Singh 1978).

The time interval between pollination and fertilization (fertilization internal) in gymnosperms ranges from 10 h to more than 12 mo. In general, pollen hydration and germination takes two or more days, and the period of active growth of the pollen tube five days or more. Except for Gnetum and Ephedra, which have a fertilization interval of 6-8 days and 10-36 h, respectively, the fertilization interval in gymnosperms is much longer as compared to angiosperms (15 min to >12 mo). In *Ephedra*, this short interval is accounted for by the shortening of the pollen tube pathway and a decrease in the pollen germination time of about 1-2 h (Williams 2008). However, like other gymnosperms, the rate of pollen tube growth,  $\sim 14 \mu m/h$ , *in vivo*, is slow compared to that observed in angiosperms, which ranges from  $\sim$ 80-600 µm/h. The maximum rates of pollen tube growth in other gymnosperms have been measured in vivo: Zamia, ~1 µm/h; Ginkgo, 2 µm/h; Agathis, 6 µm/h; and Gnetum, 5 µm/h; and in vitro: Pinus, <1 µm/h (Williams 2008).

# COMPOSITION OF INTINE AND POLLEN TUBE WALL

A few reports have focused on the chemical composition of the intine and pollen tube wall in gymnosperms, and the most comprehensive of these is that of Yatomi et al. (2002). These authors examined 14 species belonging to eight genera and six families representing cycadophytes, ginkgophytes, and coniferophytes to localize arabinogalactan proteins (AGPs),  $\beta$ -glucans (cellulose and callose) and pectins (acidic and esterified) in both the intines and pollen tube walls. Their results suggest that intines and pollen tube walls of all the gymnosperms examined have AGPs and cellulose. Derksen et al. (1999) has reported that the cellulose in the pollen tube tip of *Pinus sylvestris* is less dense as compared to the rest of the pollen tube wall and that cellulose microfibrils are oriented parallel and transverse to the elongation axis of the pollen tube. This orientation is believed to prevent radial expansion but favor elongation. Staining for cellulose in the pollen tubes of other conifers also shows that it is distributed throughout the pollen tube walls including the tip (Lazzaro et al. 2003; Sheng et al. 2006).

The occurrence of callose appears to be variable in conifers. Yatomi *et al.* (2002) showed that callose MAb strongly labeled the outer layer of the intines of all the six pine species, *Podocarpus macrophyllus, Cryptomeria japonica* and *Chamaecyparis obtusa*; strong labeling in the pollen tube wall was only observed in *Cryptomeria japonica*, but slight labeling of the pollen tube wall was also observed in most of the conifers examined. Using aniline blue to detect callose, only the pollen tube walls of *Podocarpus*  *nagi* and *Chamaecyparis obtusa* showed positive reactions (Yatomi *et al.* 2002). Also based on aniline blue staining, Derksen *et al.* (1999) showed that in *P. sylvestrus*, callose is present in the pollen tube tip and younger parts of the pollen tube, but not in the older and perhaps, none elongating part of the pollen tube. In germinating *Cupressus arizonica* pollen, aniline blue staining was observed in the intine, pollen tube wall, and wall separating the generative and tube cells (Chichiricco *et al.* 2009).

Acidic and esterified pectins have been localized in the pollen tube walls and tips, respectively, in *P. sylvestris* (Derksen *et al.* 1999) and *Picea wilsonii* (Sheng *et al.* 2006). From the results of Yatomi *et al.* (2002), only *P. nagi* showed strong labeling with esterified pectin in both its intine and pollen tube wall, while in most of the other conifers, esterified pectin is more prevalent in the intines than in the pollen tube walls. Unfortunately, Yatomi *et al.* (2002) did not differentiate the localization of pectins between the pollen tube tip and the rest of the pollen tube wall.

The intines and pollen tube walls of *Cycas revoluta* and *Ginkgo biloba* differ from each other and the conifers in callose, pectin, and  $\beta$ -glucan compositions. In *C. revoluta*, callose has been detected in its intine, but not in its pollen tube wall, while callose staining is very weak in both the intine and pollen tube wall of *G. biloba* (Yatomi *et al.* 2002). Esterified and acidic pectins are found in both the intine and pollen tube wall of *C. revoluta*, whereas only esterified pectin is found in both the intine and pollen tube wall of *C. revoluta*, whereas only esterified pectin is found in both the intine and pollen tube wall of *C. revoluta* using a mixed glucan MAb (Yatomi *et al.* 2002). On the other hand, the strong reaction of a mixed glucan MAb observed in the intine and pollen tube wall of *G. biloba* suggests the presence of a  $\beta$ -glucan that is neither cellulose nor callose.

There is no information available on cyto- and immunochemical analyses of the intines and pollen tube walls in gnetophytes. Nevertheless, arabinogalactan proteins and cellulose are present in the pollen tube walls of the gymnosperms examined, pectin is prevalent in *C. revoluta*, and a  $\beta$ -(1,3)(1,4)-glucan is abundant in *G. biloba*. Callose has not been detected in the pollen tube walls of *C. revoluta* and all species of *Pinus* that have been examined, while detected in *G. biloba* and some conifers but at varying intensities. Callose plugs have not been reported in any gymnosperm and therefore, the entire pollen tube, even if it is extensively branched, remains as one continuous cell from germination through fertilization.

Maintenance of the pollen tube wall involves the formation, transport, and breakdown of many proteins. In conifers, by inhibition of certain pathways, the importance and role of some proteins has been demonstrated (Wang et al. 2005). Pollen tube elongation, in particular, requires the assembly of structural proteins into the walls, which are synthesized in the ER-Golgi system and transported into the apoplastic space via secretory vesicles. The cell wall components become modified if the production and transport of these vesicles is blocked. The introduction of brefeldin A into germinating pollen of *Picea meyeri* inhibits exocytosis, the final step in the secretory pathway, but stimulates endocytosis counterbalancing membrane secretion. As a result, secretory pathways are inhibited and the pollen tube cell wall is compromised, exhibiting an undulating growth pattern, increased tube diameter, and swelling of the pollen tube tip. Maintenance of pollen tube elongation in conifers is dependent on continuous protein synthesis (Fernando et al. 2001; Hao et al. 2005); therefore, a consistent balance of exocytosis and endocytosis is necessary for proper growth. Disruption of this balance causes a decrease in protein synthesis leading to the arrest of pollen tube growth.

## MADS-BOX GENES AND REPRODUCTIVE DEVELOPMENT

Recent studies have given insights into the involvement of MADS-box genes in plant reproductive development.

MADS-box is a conserved sequence motif found in a family of transcription factors from fungi, animals and plants (Alvarez-Buylla et al. 2000). While the reproductive structures of gymnosperms differ greatly from those of angiosperms, some gymnosperms have been found to possess MADS-box genes which are orthologous to angiosperm Band C-class floral organ identity genes including Pinus radiata - MADS, Pinus resinosa - MADS2, Picea abies -DAL1, 2; Picea mariana – SAG1; Ginkgo biloba – GBM5; Cycas edentata - CyAG; and Gnetum gnemon - GGM1, 2, 3, 9, 13 (Rutledge et al. 1998; Winter et al. 1999; Svenson and Engström 2002; Nam et al. 2003; Jager et al. 2003; Zhang et al. 2004). As in angiosperms, these genes are believed to function in determining reproductive versus vegetative structures and male versus female reproductive units. Both orthologs found in *Picea* are expressed solely in the male and female reproductive tissues (Tandre et al. 1995; Tandre et al. 1998; Rutledge et al. 1998) Likewise in Gnetum, GGM3 is not expressed in vegetative tissues, but present only in the ovule and antherophore (pollen-bearing structure) (Winter et al. 1999; Becker et al. 2003). In Cycas, *CyAG* is present in the ovule and megasporophyll in the female, and in the male tissues, in the central axis of the cone, microsporophyll, and microsporangium (Zhang et al. 2004). Unlike the other gymnosperm AGAMOUS homologs, the GBM5 gene of Ginkgo is expressed not only in reproductive tissues, but also strongly in young leaves (Jager et al. 2003). In contrast to angiosperms, which are characterized by the presence of at least two genes belonging to the AGAMOUS (AG) family (C-class genes), only a single AG ortholog has been found in gymnosperms thus far (Jager et al. 2003). Further analysis of MADS-box genes including a larger number of gymnosperm representatives, may help in understanding the contribution of MADS-box genes in gymnosperm reproductive development.

Similar to angiosperms, the coupling of B gene and C gene expression is believed to control the formation of the male organs in gymnosperms (Theissen et al. 2000). Therefore, several studies have screened for genes containing MADS-box elements expressed in gymnosperm cones (strobili). Becker et al. (2003) have predicted that there is not one, but two B genes, GGM2 and GGM15, in Gnetum that are strongly expressed specifically in male structures. Futamura et al. (2008) have identified twelve MADS-box genes from the cDNA library of Cryptomeria japonica male cones, one is a type I gene and the other eleven are MIKC type genes. These MIKC<sup>C</sup>-type genes make up five subfamilies including DEF/GLO/GG13- (B-class and Bsister MADS-genes), TM8-, AG-, AGL16-, and TM3-like genes. The function of the type I gene remains to be determined in C. japonica cones. Likewise, MADS-box genes have been identified in the cones of Picea abies, many of which are related to the class B and C genes in angiosperms. Tandre et al. (1998) showed that DAL2, expressed in both male and female cones, is similar in structure and function to the class C MADS-box genes in angiosperms, and therefore is suspected to act as a determinant of reproductive organ identity. Similarly, the MADS-box genes DAL11, DAL12, and DAL13, related to the angiosperm B-class genes, are suggested to function in specifying the identity of the pollen cones in P. abies. While all three are specifically expressed in the pollen cone, DAL11 and DAL12 are active in all tissues of the developing cone, including the meristem, while DAL13 is only active in the peripheral zone of the pollen cone bud (Sunström and Engström 2002). In addition, Carlsbecker et al. (2004) have identified that the DAL1 MADS-box gene, a putative ortholog of the Arabidopsis genes AGL6 and AGL13, may have a role in regulating the juvenile-to-adult phase transition in P. abies. Active in the shoots of juvenile trees at 3-5 years of age, DAL1 expression increases with age, and is maintained at high levels in male and female cones.

There are some MADS genes from gymnosperms that cannot be grouped with any MADS gene superfamilies from angiosperms, such as *GGM7* in *Gnetum* (Becker *et al* 

2000). Likewise, the MADS-box gene *DAL10* in *P. abies* shows expression specificity in developing seeds and pollen cones with no orthology to known angiosperm MADS clades (Carlesbecker *et al* 2003). Therefore, it is likely that some MADS-box genes may be ancestral and lost during the evolution of angiosperms, whereas other may have been diverged after the separation of the angiosperms and gymnosperms.

While distinct MADS-box genes have been reported to show high expression levels in pollen grains, including AGL18 from Arabidopsis (Alvarez-Buylla et al. 2000), altogether the MADS family of genes is underrepresented in the pollen transcriptome. On the contrary, nonclassical lineages, including type I and MIKC\*-type, have been found to be overrepresented in pollen grains. It is suggested that MIKC\*-type genes play an essential role in late pollen development and pollen tube growth, as disruption of such genes is reported to have a negative effect on pollen maturation, competitive ability, and germination (Kofuji et al. 2003; Verelst et al. 2007a, 2007b; Adamczyk and Fernandez 2009). As these results have come mainly from angiosperms, there is a need to confirm the role of MIKC\*-type genes in gymnosperm male gametophyte development. Characterization of these genes in gymnosperms may give further insight into their involvement in the evolution of male gametophytes in seed plants, as a whole.

#### DIRECTION OF GYMNOSPERM MALE GAMETOPHYTE RESEARCH

Studies on pollen grains and tubes in gymnosperms have been mainly confined to morphological, histological, and cytological analyses, particularly for cycads, Ginkgo, gnetophytes, and most conifers. There is no information available on the male gametophyte development in Sciadopityaceae and Phyllocladaceae. In spite of several decades of work on gymnosperm male gametophyte development and evolution, there is still a need to establish the morphological relationships between various cells comprising the male gametophytes within seed plants and with those of non-seed plants. A possible approach is to examine the expression of molecular markers in gymnosperms and non-seed plants that have been established in flowering plants which are specific for vegetative cells (including pollen tube) and reproductive cells such as generative and sperm cells (see Twell 1992; Mori et al. 2005; von Besser et al. 2006).

Advances in the study of gymnosperm pollen grains and tubes have come primarily from conifers, although they are very limited as compared to the publications on pollen grains and tubes of angiosperms. In gymnosperms, recent reports are all from conifers, and these deal with differential display protein analysis (Chen et al. 2006), regulation of  $Ca^{2+}$  uptake (Kong *et al.* 2006), cytoskeleton dynamics (Chen et al. 2006; Sheng et al. 2006; Chen et al. 2007; Zhang et al. 2007), pollen tube wall composition (Sheng et al. 2006; Chichiricco and Paccini 2008; Chichiricco et al. 2009), activities of sterile and pollen tube nuclei (Wang et al. 2008), and microarray and proteomic analyses (Fernando 2008). There are no studies involving both molecular biology and genetics in gymnosperm male gametophyte development, not surprising considering the long-generation time of these seed plants.

In addition to the large-scale expressed sequence tags available from various conifers including *Pinus taeda* and *Picea glauca* (http://foresttree.org/ftdb; Pavy *et al.* 2007) and *Cryptomeria japonica* (Futamura *et al.* 2008), there are also EST sequencing projects on other phyla of gymnosperms such as *Ginkgo biloba* (Brenner *et al.* 2003), *Cycas rumphii* (Brenner *et al.* 2005) and *Gnetum gnemon* (Brenner *et al.*, unpublished results). However, these projects are not directly addressing pollen grain and tube development or evolution. So far, information on the genes and proteins expressed in gymnosperm pollen grains and tubes are from *Pinus strobus* (Fernando 2005), *Picea meyeri* (Chen *et al.* 2006) and *Pinus taeda* (Fernando 2008). We anticipate that as molecular data accumulate from various representatives of the four living orders of gymnosperms, evolutionary patterns regarding the development of pollen grains and tubes may emerge from comparative sequence analysis.

A comprehensive analysis of pollen grains and tubes from seed plants will facilitate our understanding of the differences between the penultimate and ultimate phyla of land plant evolution, i.e., the gymnosperms and angiosperms. To do so will require a large-scale identification of genes and proteins from the male gametophytes coupled with characterization of their expression patterns and functions at the molecular level. If initiated, such study will provide a remarkable advancement in our understanding of sexual reproduction in seed plants.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors are grateful to Alphonse Von Weorkom for his artistic interpretation of the *Ginkgo* male gametophyte. The authors thank the associated authors and publishers for the permission to re-use the following figures: Fig. 1A and 1B from Tekleva MV, Polevova SV, Zavialova NE (2007) On some peculiarities of sporoderm structure in members of the Cycadales and Ginkgoales. Paleontological Journal 41, 1162-1178, ©2007, Elsevier Science Ltd., London; Fig. 1C-F from Fernando DD, Lazarro MD, Owens JN (2005) Growth and development of conifer pollen tubes. Sexual Plant Reproduction 18, 149-162, ©2005, Springer, Berlin; Fig. 1G-H from Doores AS, Osborn JM, El-Ghazaly G (2007) Pollen ontogeny in Ephedra americana (Gnetales). International Journal of Plant Sciences 168, 985-997, ©2007, University of Chicago Press, Chicago; Fig. 11 from Tekleva MY, Krassilov VA (2009) Comparative pollen morphology and ultrastructure of modern and fossil gnetophytes. Review of Paleobotany and Palynology 156, 130-138, ©2009, Elsevier Science Ltd., London; Fig. 1J from Rydin C, Friis EM (2005) Pollen germination in Welwitschia Hook.f.: differences between polyplicate pollen producing genera of the Gnetales. Grana 44, 137-141, ©2005, Taylor and Francis, London; Fig. 11I from Carmichael JS, Friedman WE (1996) Double fertilization in Gnetum gnemon (Gnetaceae): its bearing on the evolution of sexual reproduction within the Gnetales and the Anthophyte clade. American Journal of Botany 83, 767-780, ©1996, The Botanical Society of America, St. Louis, MO.

#### REFERENCES

- Adamczyk BJ, Fernandez DE (2009) MIKC\*MADS domain heterodimers are required for pollen maturation and tube growth in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Phy*siology 149, 1713-1723
- Alvarez-Buylla ER, Liljegren SJ, Pelaz S, Gold SE, Burgeff C, Ditta GS, Vergara-Silva, F, Yanofsky MF (2000) MADS-box gene evolution beyond flowers: expression in pollen, endosperm, guard cells, roots, and trichomes. *The Plant Journal* 24, 457-466
- Anderson ED, Owens JN (1999) Megagametophyte development, fertilization, and cytoplasmic inheritance in *Taxus brevifolia*. International Journal of Plant Sciences 160, 459-469
- Anderson ED, Owens JN (2000) Microsporogenesis, pollination, pollen germination, and male gametophyte development in *Taxus brevifolia*. Annals of Botany 86, 1033-1044
- Becker A, Saedler H, Theissen G (2003) Distinct MADS-box gene expression patterns in the reproductive cones of the gymnosperm *Gnetum gnemon*. *Development, Genes and Evolution* **213**, 567-572
- Boavida LC, Becker JD, Feijó JA (2005) The making of gametes in higher plants. International Journal of Developmental Biology 49, 595-614
- Bowe LM, Coat G, Depamphilis CW (2000) Phylogeny of seed plants based on all three genomic compartments: extant gymnosperms are monophyletic and Gnetales' closest relatives are conifers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **97**, 4092-4097
- Brennan M, Doyle J (1956) The gametophytes and embryogeny of Arthrotaxis. Science Proceedings of the Royal Dublin Society 27, 193-257
- Brenner ED, Stevenson DW, McCombie RW, Katari MS, Rudd SA, Mayer KFX, Palenchar PM, Runko SJ, Twigg RW, Dai G, Martienssen RA, Benfey PN, Coruzzi GM (2003) Expressed sequence tag analysis in *Cycas*, the most primitive living seed plant. *Genome Biology* **4**, R78
- Brenner ED, Katari MS, Stevenson DW, Rudd SA, Douglas AW, Moss WN, Twigg RW, Runko SJ, Stellari GM, McCombie WR, Coruzzi GM (2005) EST analysis in *Ginkgo biloba*: an assessment of conserved developmental regulators and gymnosperm specific genes. *BMC Genomics* 6, 143-152
- Bruns D, Owens JN (2000) Western white pine (Pinus monticola Dougl.)

reproduction: II. Fertilisation and cytoplasmic inheritance. Sexual Plant Reproduction 13, 75-84

- Carlsbecker A, Sundstrom J, Tandre K, Englund M, Kvarnheden A, Johanson U, Engström P (2003) The DAL10 gene from Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) belongs to a potentially gymnosperm-specific subclass of MADS-box genes and is specifically active in seed cones and pollen cones. Evolution and Development 5, 551-561
- Carlsbecker A, Tandre K, Johanson U, Englund M, Engström P (2004) The MADS-box gene *DAL1* is a potential mediator of the juvenile-to-adult transition in Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). *The Plant Journal* **40**, 546-557
- Carmichael JS, Friedman WE (1995) Double fertilization in *Gnetum gnemon*: the relationship between the cell cycle and sexual reproduction. *Plant Cell* 7, 1975-1988
- Carmichael JS, Friedman WE (1996) Double fertilization in *Gnetum gnemon* (Gnetaceae): its bearing on the evolution of sexual reproduction within the Gnetales and the Anthophyte clade. *American Journal of Botany* **83**, 767-780
- Chaloner WG (1970) The evolution of miospore polarity. *Proceedings of the Annual Meeting. American Association of Stratigraphic Palynologists* 1, 47-56
- Chamberlain CJ (1935) *Gymnosperms: Structure and Evolution*, Dover Publications, Inc., New York, 484 pp
- Chandler LM, Owens JN (2004) The pollination mechanism in Abies anabilis. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 34, 1-10
- Chaw SM, Long H, Wang BS, Zharkikh A, Li WH (1993) The phylogenetic positions of Taxaceae based on 18S rRNA sequences. *Journal of Molecular Evolution* 37, 624-630
- Chaw SM, Sung HM, Long H, Zharkikh A, Li WH (1995) The phylogenetic positions of the conifer genera Amentotaxus, Phyllocladus, and Nageia inferred from 18S rRNA sequences. Journal of Molecular Evolution 41, 224-230
- Chaw SM, Zharkikh A, Sung HM, Lau TC, Li WH (1997) Molecular phylogeny of extant gymnosperms and seed plant evolution: analysis of nuclear 18S rRNA sequences. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 14, 56-68
- Chaw SM, Parkinson CL, Cheng Y, Vincent T, Palmer JD (2000) Seed plant phylogeny inferred from all three plant genomes: monophyly of extant gymnosperms and origin of Gnetales from conifers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 97, 4086-4091
- Chen T, Teng N, Wu X, Wang Y, Tang W, Samaj J, Baluska F, Lin J (2007) Disruption of actin filaments by latrunculin B affects cell wall construction in *Picea meyeri* pollen tube by disturbing vesicle trafficking. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 48, 19-30
- Chen Y, Chen T, Shen S, Zheng M, Guo Y, Lin J, Baluska F, Samaj J (2006) Differential display proteomic analysis of *Picea meyeri* pollen germination and pollen tube growth after inhibition of actin polymerization by latrunculin B. *Plant Journal* 47, 174-195
- Chichiriccò G, Pacini E (2008) Cupressus arizonica pollen wall zonation and in vitro hydration. Plant Systematics and Evolution 270, 231-242
- Chichiriccò G, Spanò L, Torraca G, Tartarini A (2009) Hydration, sporoderm breaking and germination of *Cupressus arizonica* pollen. *Plant Biology* 11, 359-368
- Choi JS, Friedman WE (1991) Development of the pollen tube of Zamia furfuracea (Zamiaceae) and its evolutionary implications. American Journal of Botany 78, 544-560
- Colangeli AM, Owens JN (1989) Post-dormancy seed-cone development and the pollination mechanism in western hemlock (*Tsuga heterophylla*). Canadian Journal of Forest Research 19, 44-53
- Coulter JM (1909) Evolutionary tendencies among gymnosperms. Botanical Gazette 48, 81-97
- Crane PR (1996) The fossil history of the Gnetales. International Journal of Plant Sciences 157, S50-S57
- Dawkins MD, Owens JN (1993) In vitro and in vivo pollen hydration, germination, and pollen tube growth in white spruce, Picea glauca (Moench) Voss. International Journal of Plant Sciences 154, 506-521
- de Laubenfels DJ (1999) The families of the Cycadaceae. Encephalartos 59, 7-9
- de Win AHN, Knuiman B, Pierson ES, Geurts H, Kengen HMP, Derksen J (1996) Development and cellular organization of *Pinus sylvestris* pollen tubes. *Sexual Plant Reproduction* 9, 93-101
- Dehgan B, Dehgan NB (1988) Comparative pollen morphology and taxonomic affinities in Cycadales. *American Journal of Botany* **75**, 1501-1516
- Derksen J, Li YQ, Knuiman B, Geurts H (1999) The wall of *Pinus sylvestris* L. pollen tubes. *Protoplasma* **208**, 26-36
- Doores AS, Osborn JM, El-Ghazaly G (2007) Pollen ontogeny in Ephedra americana (Gnetales). International Journal of Plant Sciences 168, 985-997
- Downie DG (1928) Male gametophyte of *Microcycas calocoma. Botanical Gazette* **85**, 437-450
- Doyle JA, Donoghue MJ (1992) Fossils and seed plant phylogeny reanalyzed. Brittonia 44, 89-106
- El-Ghazaly G, Rowley JR (1997) Pollen wall of *Ephedra foliata*. Palynology 21, 7-18
- **El-Ghazaly G, Rowley JR, Hesse M** (1998) Polarity, aperture condition and germination in pollen grains of *Ephedra* (Gnetales). *Plant Systematics and Evolution* **213**, 217-231

- Faegri K, Iverson J (1989) Textbook of Pollen Analysis, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 328 pp
- Farjon A (1998) World Checklist and Bibliography of Conifers, The Royal Botanical Gardens, Kew, UK, 316 pp
- Farjon A (2008) A Natural History of Conifers, Timber Press, Portland, Oregon, 304 pp
- **Fernando DD** (2005) Characterization of pollen tube development in *Pinus* strobus (Eastern white pine) through proteomic analysis of differentially expressed proteins. *Proteomics* **56**, 2619-2628
- **Fernando DD** (2008) Towards our understanding of pollen tube growth and development in conifers. Abstracts of Plant and Animal Genomes XVI Conference, July 12-16
- Fernando DD, Lazzaro MD, Owens JN (2005a) Growth and development of conifer pollen tubes. Sexual Plant Reproduction 18, 149-162
- Fernando DD, Long SM, Sniezko RA (2005b) Sexual reproduction and crossing barriers in white pines: the case between *Pinus lambertiana* (sugar pine) and *P. monticola* (western white pine). *Tree Genetics and Genomes* 1, 143-150
- Fernando DD, Owens JN, Yu X, Ekramoddoullah AKM (2001) RNA and protein synthesis during in vitro pollen germination and tube elongation in *Pinus monticola* and other conifers. *Sexual Plant Reproduction* 13, 259-264
- Friedman WE (1987) Growth and development of the male gametophyte of Ginkgo biloba within the ovule (in vivo). American Journal of Botany 74, 1797-1815
- Friedman WE (1990a) Double fertilization in *Ephedra*, a nonflowering seed plant: its bearing on the origin of angiosperms. *Science* 247, 951-954
- Friedman WE (1990b) Sexual reproduction in *Ephedra nevadensis* (Ephedraceae): further evidence of double fertilization in a nonflowering seed plant. *American Journal of Botany* 77, 1582-1598
- Friedman WE (1993) The evolutionary history of the seed plant male gametophyte. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 8, 15-21
- Friedman WE, Gifford EM (1988) Division of the generative cell and late development in the male gametophyte of *Ginkgo biloba*. American Journal of Botany 75, 1434-1442
- Friedman WE, Gifford EM (1997) Development of the male gametophyte of Ginkgo biloba: a window into the reproductive biology of early seed plants. In: Hori T, Ridge RW, Tulecke W, Del Tredici P, Trémouillaux-Guiller J, Tobe H (Eds) Ginkgo biloba, a Global Treasure: From Biology to Medicine, Springer, Tokyo, pp 29-49
- Futamura T, Totoki Y, Toyoda A, Igasaki T, Nanjo T, Seki M, Sakaki Y, Mari A, Shinozaki K, Shinohara K (2008) Characterization of expressed sequence tags from a full-length enriched cDNA library of *Cryptomeria japo*nica male strobili. *BMC Genomics* 9, 383
- Gao ZF, Thomas BA (1989) A review of fossil cycad megasporophylls, with new evidence of *Crossozamia* Pomel and its associated leaves from the lower Permian of Taiyuan, China. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology* **60**, 205-223
- Gifford EM, Foster AS (1989) Morphology and Evolution of Vascular Plants, W. H. Freedman and Company, New York, 626 pp
- Gifford EM, Larson S (1980) Developmental features of the spermatogenous cell in *Ginkgo biloba*. American Journal of Botany 67, 119-124
- Gifford EM, Lin J (1975) Light microscope and ultrastructural studies of the male gametophyte in *Ginkgo biloba*: the spermatogenous cell. *American Journal of Botany* 62, 974-981
- Goremykin V, Bobrova V, Pahnke J, Troitsky A, Antonov A, Martin W (1996) Noncoding sequences from the slowly evolving chloroplast inverted repeat in addition to rbcL data do not support gnetalean affinities of angiosperms. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **13**, 383-396
- Hajibabaei M, Xia J, Drouin G (2006) Seed plant phylogeny: Gnetophytes are derived conifers and a sister group to Pinaceae. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 40, 208-217
- Hansen A, Hansmann S, Samigullin T, Antonov A, Martin W (1999) Gnetum and the angiosperms: molecular evidence that their shared morphological characters are convergent, rather than homologous. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 16, 1006-1009
- Hao H, Li Y, Hu Y, Lin J (2005) Inhibition of RNA and protein synthesis in pollen tube development of *Pinus bungeana* by actinomycin D and cycloheximide. *New Phytologist* 165, 721-730
- Hart JA (1987) A cladistic analysis of conifers: preliminary results. Journal of the Arnold Arboretum 68, 269-307
- Hernandez-Castillo GR, Rothwell GW, Mapes G (2001) Compound pollen cone in a Paleozoic conifer. *American Journal of Botany* 88, 1139-1142
- Hernandez-Castillo GR, Stockey RA, Rothwell GW, Mapes G (2009) Reconstruction of the Pennsylvanian-age walchian conifer *Emporia cryptica* sp. nov. (Emporiaceae: Voltziales). *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology* 157, 218-237
- Hill KD, Stevenson DW, Osborne R (2005) The World List of Cycads, In: Proceedings of Cycad 2005, *The 7<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Cycad Biology*. The New York Botanical Garden Press, NY, pp 454-483
- Hill, KD, Chase MW, Stevenson DW, Hill, HG, Schutzman B (2003) The families and genera of cycads: a molecular phylogenetic analysis of Cycadophyta based on nuclear and plastid DNA sequences. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 164, 933-948

- Hirase S (1896) Preliminary report on the spermatozoid of Ginkgo (in Japanese). Botanical Magazine Tokyo 10, 325-326
- Hiratsuka R, Yamada Y, Terasaka O (2002) Programmed cell death of *Pinus* nucellus in response to pollen tube penetration. *Journal of Plant Research* 115, 141-148
- Ikeno S (1896) The spermatozoid of Cycas revoluta (in Japanese) Botanical Magazine Tokyo 10, 367-368
- Ikeno S, Hirase S (1897) Spermatozoids in gymnosperms. Annals of Botany 11, 344-345
- Jager M, Hassanin A, Manuel M, Le Guyader H, Deutsch J (2003) MADSbox genes in *Ginkgo biloba* and the evolution of the *AGAMOUS* family. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 20, 842-854
- Kofuji R, Sumikawa N, Yamasaki M, Kondo K, Ueda K, Ito M, Hasebe M (2003) Evolution and divergence of the MADS-box gene family based on genome-wide expression. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 20, 1963-1977
- Kong L, Wang M, Wang Q, Wang X, Lin J (2006) Protein phosphatases 1 and 2A and the regulation of calcium uptake and pollen tube development in *Picea wilsonii. Tree Physiology* 26, 1001-1012
- Kurmann MH (1990) Development of the pollen wall in Tsuga canadensis (Pinaceae). Nordic Journal of Botany 10, 63-78
- Kurmann MH (1992) Exine stratification in extant gymnosperms: A review of published transmission electron micrographs. Kew Bulletin 47, 25-39
- Kurmann MH (1994) Pollen morphology and ultrastructure in the Cupressaceae. Acta Botanica Gallica 141, 141-147
- Kurmann MH, Zavada MS (1994) Pollen morphological diversity in extant and fossil gymnosperms. In: Kurmann MH, Doyle JA (Ed) Ultrastructure of Fossil Spores and Pollen, Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew, pp 123-137
- Labandeira CC, Kvacek J, Mostovski MB (2007) Pollination drops, pollen, and insect pollination of Mesozic gymnosperms. *Taxon* 56, 663-695
- Lazarro MD, Donohue JM, Soodavar FM (2003) Disruption of cellulose synthesis by isoxaben causes tip swelling and disorganizes cortical microtubules in elongating conifer pollen tubes. *Protoplasma* **220**, 201-207
- Lee CL (1955) Fertilization in Ginkgo biloba. Botanical Gazette 117, 79-100
- Leslie AB (2008) Interpreting the function of saccate pollen in ancient conifers and other seed plants. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* **169**, 1038-1045
- Mamay SH (1969) Cycads: Fossil evidence of Late Paleozoic origin. Science 164, 295-296
- Mamay SH (1976) Palaeozoic origin of the cycads. United States Geological Survey Professional Paper 934. Washington, D.C.
- Meyen SV (1984) Basic features of gymnosperm systematics and phylogeny as evidenced by the fossil record. *Botanical Review* **50**, 1-116
- Meyen SV (1997) Permian conifers of Western Angaraland. Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology 96, 351-447
- Miller CN (1977) Mesozoic conifers. Botanical Review 43, 217-280
- Miller CN (1999) Implications of fossil conifers for the phylogenetic relationships of living families. *Botanical Review* 65, 239-277
- Moitra A, Bhatnagar SP (1982) Ultrastructure, cytochemical, and histochemical studies on pollen and male gamete development in gymnosperms. *Gamete Research* 5, 71-112
- Mori T, Kuroiwa H, Higashiyama, Kuroiwa T (2005) GENERATIVE CELL SPECIFIC 1 is essential for angiosperm fertilization. Nature Cell Biology 8, 64-71
- Nam J, dePamphillis CW, Ma H, Nei M (2003) Antiquity and evolution of the MADS-box gene family controlling flower development in plants. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 20, 1435-1447
- Nishida H, Pigg KB, Rigby JF (2003) Palaeobotany: Swimming sperm in an extinct Gondwanan plant. *Nature* 422, 396-397
- Nishida H, Pigg KB, Kudo K, Rigby JF (2004) Zooidogamy in the Late Permian genus Glossopteris. Journal of Plant Research 117, 323-328
- Norstog KJ (1990) Spermatozoids of *Microcycas calocoma*: ultrastructure. *Botanical Gazette* **151**, 275-284
- Norstog KJ, Gifford EM, Stevenson DWM (2004) Comparative development of the spermatozoids of cycads and *Ginkgo biloba*. *The Botanical Review* **70**, 5-15
- Norstog KJ, Nicholls TJ (1997) The Biology of the Cycads, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, 363 pp
- Ouyang HB, Li Y, Zhang SZ, Li N, Wu H (2004) Microsporogenesis of Cycas elongata and its systematic implication. Acta Phytotaxonomica Sinica 42, 500-512
- **Owens JN, Bruns D** (2000) Western white pine (*Pinus monticola* Dougl.) reproduction: I. Gametophyte development. *Sexual Plant Reproduction* **13**, 61-74
- Owens JN, Bennett J, L'Hirondelle S (2005) Pollination and cone morphology affect cone and seed production in lodgepole pine seed orchards. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **35**, 383-400
- Owens JN, Catalano GL, Morris SJ, Aitken-Christie J (1995) The reproductive biology of kauri (*Agathis australis*). II. Male gametes, fertilization, and cytoplasmic inheritance. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* **156**, 404-416
- Owens JN, Morris SJ, Catalano GL (1994) How the pollination mechanism and prezygotic and postzygotic events affect seed production in *Larix occidentalis. Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 24, 917-927

- Owens JN, Molder M (1977) Sexual reproduction of Abies amabilis. Canadian Journal of Botany 55, 2653-2667
- Owens JN, Simpson SJ (1986) Pollen from conifers native to British Columbia. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 16, 955-967
- Owens JN, Simpson SJ, Molder M (1981) The pollination mechanism and the optimal time of pollination in Douglas fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*). Canadian Journal of Forest Research 11, 36-50
- Owens JN, Takaso T, Runions JC (1998) Pollination in conifers. Trends in Plant Science 3, 479-485
- Pacini E, Franchi GG, Ripaccioli M (1999) Ripe pollen structure and histochemistry of some gymnosperms. *Plant Systematics and Evolution* 217, 81-99
- Pavy N, Johnson JJ, Crow JA, Paule C, Kunau T, MacKay J, Retzel EF (2007) ForestTreeDB: a database dedicated to the mining of tree transcriptomes. *Nucleic Acids Research* 35, D888-D894
- Pennel RI, Bell PR (1986) The development of the male gametophyte and spermatogenesis in *Taxus baccata*. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London 228, 86-96
- Pettitt JM (1982) Ultrastructural and immunocytochemical demonstration of gametophytic proteins in the pollen tube wall of the primitive gymnosperm *Cycas. Journal of Cell Science* 57, 189-213
- Pettitt JM (1985) Pollen tube development and characteristics of the protein emissions in conifers. Annals of Botany 56, 379-397
- Poort RJ, Visscher H, Dilcher DL (1996) Zooidogamy in fossil gymnosperms: the centenary of a concept, with special reference to prepollen of late paleozioc conifers. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 93, 11713-11717
- Price RA (1996) Systematics of the Gnetales: a review of morphological and molecular evidence. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 157, 40-49
- Price RA, Thomas J, Strauss SH, Gadek PA, Quinn CJ, Palmer JD (1993) Familial relationships of the conifers from *rbcL* sequence data. *American Journal of Botany* **80**, 172
- Quinn CJ (1964) Gametophyte development and embryogeny in the Podocarpaceae. I. Podocarpus section Dacrycarpus. Phytomorphology 14, 342-351
- Rothwell GW, Holt B (1997) Fossils and phenology in the evolution of *Ginkgo* biloba. In: Hori T, Ridge RW, Tulecke W, Del Tredici P, Trémouillaux-Guiller J, Tobe H (Eds) *Ginkgo biloba, A Global Treasure: From Biology to Medicine*, Springer, Tokyo, pp 223-230
- Rothwell GW, Mapes G, Mapes RH (1997) Late Paleozoic conifers of North America: structure, diversity and occurrences. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology* **95**, 95-113
- Royer DL, Hickey LJ, Wing SL (2003) Ecological conservatism in the "living fossil" *Ginkgo. Paleobiology* 29, 84-104
- Rudall PJ, Bateman RM (2007) Developmental bases for key innovations in the seed plant microgametophyte. *Trends in Plant Science* **12**, 317-326
- Runions CJ, Owens JN (1999) Sexual reproduction of interior spruce (Pinaceae). II. Fertilization to early embryo formation. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 160, 641-652
- Runions JC, Catalano GL, Owens JN (1995) Pollination mechanism of seed orchard interior spruce. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 25, 1434-1444
- Rutledge R, Regan S, Nicolas O, Fobert P, Côté C, Bosnich W, Kauffeldt C, Sunohara G, Séguin A, Stewart D (1998) Characterization of an AGA-MOUS homologue from the conifer black spruce (*Picea mariana*) that produces floral homeotic conversions when expressed in Arabidopsis. Plant Journal 15, 625-634
- Rydin C, Raunsgaard Pedersen KAJ, Crane PR, Friis EM (2006) Former diversity of *Ephedra* (Gnetales): evidence from Early Cretaceous seeds from Portugal and North America. *Annals of Botany* 98, 123-140
- Rydin C, Friis EM (2005) Pollen germination in *Welwitschia mirabilis* Hook. f. Differences between the polyplicate pollen producing genera of the Gnetales. *Grana* 44, 137-141
- Said C (1989) Some characteristics of pollen wall cytochemistry and ultrastructure in Japanese larch (*Larix leptolepis* Gord.). Sexual Plant Reproduction 2, 77-84
- Salter J, Murray BG, Braggins JE (2002) Wettable and unsinkable: The hydrodynamics of saccate pollen grains in relation to the pollination mechanism in the two New Zealand species of *Prummopitys* Phil. (Podocarpaceae). *Annals of Botany* 89, 133-144
- Shen L, Chen XY, Zhang X, Li YY, Fu CX, Qiu YX (2005) Genetic variation of *Ginkgo biloba* L. (Ginkgoaceae) based on cpDNA PCR-EFLPs: Inference of glacial refugia. *Heredity* 94, 396-401
- Sheng X, Hu Z, Lu H, Wang X, Baluska F, Samaj J, Lin J (2006) Roles of the ubiquitin/proteasome pathway in pollen tube growth with emphasis on MG132-induced alterations in ultrastructure, cytoskeleton, and cell wall components. *Plant Physiology* 141, 1578-1590
- Singh H (1978) Embryology of Gymnosperms, Gebruder Borntraegar, Berlin, 302 pp
- Southworth D, Cresti M (1997) Comparison of flagellated and nonflagellated sperm in plants. American Journal of Botany 84, 1301-1311
- Stefanovic S, Jager M, Deutsch J, Broutin J, Masselot M (1998) Phylogenetic relationships of conifers inferred from partial 28S rRNA gene sequences. *American Journal of Botany* 85, 688-697
- Sterling C (1963) Structure of the male gametophyte in gymnosperms. Biologi-

cal Review 38, 167-203

- Stevenson D (1992) A formal classification of the extant cycads. *Brittonia* 44, 220-223
- Stewart WN (1983) Paleobotany and the evolution of plants. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England, 405 pp
- Stewart WN, Rothwell GW (1993) Paleobotany and the evolution of plants. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England, 535 pp
- Sunström J, Engström P (2002) Conifer reproductive development involves B-type MADS-box genes with distinct and different activities in male organ primordia. *The Plant Journal* 31, 161-169
- Svenson ME, Engström P (2002) Closely related MADS-box genes in club moss (*Lycopodium*) show broad expression patterns and are structurally similar to, but phylogenetically distinct from, typical seed plant MADS-box genes. *New Phytologist* 154, 439-450
- Swamy BGL (1948) Contributions to the life history of a Cycas from Mysore (India). American Journal of Botany 35, 77-88
- Takaso T, Owens JN (1997) Pollen movement in the micropylar canal of Larix and its simulation. Journal of Plant Research 110, 259-264
- Takaso T, Von Aderkas P, Owens JN (1996) Prefertilization events in ovules of *Pseudotsuga* ovular secretion and its influence on pollen tubes. *Canadian Journal of Botany* 74, 1214-1219
- Tandre K, Svenson M, Svensson ME, Engström P (1998) Conservation of gene structure and activity in the regulation of reproductive organ development of conifers and angiosperms. *The Plant Journal* 15, 615-623
- Tandre K, Albert VA, Sundas A, Engström P (1995) Conifer homologues to genes that control floral development in angiosperms. *Plant Molecular Biology* 27, 69-78
- Tekleva MV, Polevova SV, Zavialova NE (2007) On some peculiarities of sporoderm structure in members of the Cycadales and Ginkgoales. *Paleontological Journal* **41**, 1162-1178
- Tekleva MV, Krassilov VA (2009) Comparative pollen morphology and ultrastructure of modern and fossil gnetophytes. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology* **156**, 130-138
- Theissen G, Becker A, Di Rosa A, Kanno A, Kim JT (2000) A short history of MADS-box genes in plants. *Plant Molecular Biology* 42, 115-149
- Tomlinson PB (1994) Functional morphology of saccate pollen in conifers with special reference to Podocarpaceae. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 155, 699-715
- Tomlinson PB, Braggins JE, Rattenbury JA (1997) Contrasted pollen capture mechanisms in Phyllocladaceae and certain Podocarpaceae (Coniferales). *American Journal of Botany* 84, 214-223
- Twell D (1992) Use of nuclear-targeted β-glucuronidase fusion protein to

demonstrate vegetative cell specific gene expression in developing pollen. *Plant Journal* 2, 887-892

- Verelst W, Saedler H, Munster T (2007a) MIKC\* MADS-protein complexes bind motifs enriched in the proximal region of late pollen-specific Arabidopsis promoters. Plant Physiology 143, 447-460
- Verelst W, Twell D, de Folter S, Immink R, Saedler H, Munster T (2007b) MADS-complexes regulate transcriptome dynamics during pollen maturation. *Genome Biology* 8, 249.1-249.15
- von Besser K, Frank AC, Johnson MA, Preuss D (2006) Arabidopsis HAP2 (GCS1) is a sperm-specific gene required for pollen tube guidance and fertilization. Development 133, 4761-4769
- Wang Q, Kong L, Hao H, Wang X, Lin J, Samaj J, Baluska F (2005) Effects of brefeldin A on pollen germination and tube growth. Antagonistic effects on endocytosis and secretion. *Plant Physiology* **139**, 1692-1703
- Wang BY, Su JR, Fernando DD, Yang ZH, Zhang ZJ, Chen XM, Zhang YP (2008) Development of the male reproductive structures in *Taxus yunnanen*sis. Plant Systematics and Evolution 276, 51-58
- Williams JH (2008) Novelties of the flowering plant pollen tube underlie diversification of a key life history stage. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 32, 11259-11263
- Wilson V, Owens JN (1999) The reproductive biology of totara (Podocarpus totara) (Podocarpaceae). Annals of Botany 83, 401-411
- Winter K-U, Becker A, Munster T, Kim JT, Saedler H, Theissen G (1999) MADS-box genes reveal that gnetophytes are more closely related to conifers than to flowering plants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* USA 96, 7342-7347
- Yao YF, Xi YZ, Geng BY, Li CS (2004) The exine ultrastructure of pollen grains in *Gnetum* (Gnetaceae) from China and its bearing on the relationship with the ANITA group. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society* 146, 415-425
- Yatomi R, Nakamura S, Nakamura N (2002) Immunochemical and cytochemical detection of wall components of germinated pollen of gymnosperms. *Grana* 41, 21-28
- Zhang L, Hao H, Wang Q, Fang K, Hou Z, Lin J (2007) The localization of Rac GTPase in *Picea willsonii* pollen tubes implies roles in tube growth and the movement of the tube nucleus and sperm cells. *Plant Science* 172, 1210-1217
- Zhang P, Tan HT, Pwee KH, Kumar PP (2004) Conservation of class C function of floral organ development during 300 million years of evolution from gymnosperms to angiosperms. *Plant Journal* 37, 566-577
- Zhou Z, Zheng S (2003) Palaeobiology: the missing link in *Ginkgo* evolution. *Nature* 423, 821

